
 

 

Steuben County Industrial Development Agency 

7234 Route 54 North 

PO Box 393 

Bath, NY 14810 

 

Board Meeting Notice 

January 22, 2026 

 

  

Steuben County Industrial Development Agency will hold a Board Meeting at 12:00 pm 

on January 22, 2026. The meeting is open to the public and those wishing to view the meeting 

as it is being held may do so by visiting: 

Steuben County IDA - January 22, 2025 Board of Directors Meeting 12:00 pm 

 

Sincerely,  

Dean Strobel 

Board Chair 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81658621796?pwd=sJ2eDnJZE6ijl08Oxa4kdXD90ddebH.1


Steuben County Industrial Development Agency 
Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors  

Agenda 
January 22, 2026, 12:00 pm 

 
 
 

1. Call to Order – Quorum present     Fitzpatrick 
 

2. Secretary’s Report – December 18, 2025, minutes.   Davidson  
 

3. Audit Presentation        K. Beach 
 
4. Treasurer’s Report –   December financials    Russo 

        
5. New Business:         

a) Chauncey Run, LLC Initial Resolution    Staats 
b) Board Annual Disclosures     Johnson 
c) Gunlocke Update      Johnson 

     
6. Old Business:      

a) Alstom/FRA Update                 Johnson/Staats 
 

7. Project Updates       Johnson 
 
 

8. Adjournment        Fitzpatrick 
 
 
 
 

 



Steuben County Industrial Development Agency 
Board of Director’s Meeting Minutes 

December 18, 2025 
 
 

I. Call To Order: The Regular Meeting of the Steuben County Industrial Development Agency 
(IDA) was called to order at 12:20 pm by Kelly Fitzpatrck, Vice Chair, who noted that a quorum 
was present. 

 
Present: Kelly Fitzpatrick  Vice Chair  
  Michelle Caulfield  Member 

Sarah Creath   Member 
Mike Davidson  Secretary 
James Johnson  Executive Director 
Jill Staats   Deputy Director 
Matt Bull   Dir. of Community and Infrastructure Dev. 
Russ Gaenzle   IDA Counsel 
Kelly Hortman   IDA Administrative Assistant 

Absent:  Dean Strobel   Chairman 
  Tony Russo   Treasurer 
  Mark Alger   Member    
Guests: Kamala Keeley   Three Rivers Development  
 
      

 
II. Secretary’s Report: Davidson presented October 23, 2025, meeting minutes. A motion to 

approve them as presented in the board packet made by Caulfield and seconded by Creath.  All 
voted in favor and the motion passed.  

 
III. Treasurer’s Report:  

 

a) October/November 2025 Financials - Johnson presented the October 2025 and 
November 2025 financials.  Johnson also reviewed year end projections which 
estimate a $300,000 surplus for the year. A motion to approve the financial 
statements as presented was made by Creath and seconded by Davidson. All voted 
in favor and the motion passed.  
 

b) Audit Engagement – Johnson reviewed the audit engagement letter from Kristie M. 
Beach for the 2026 financial audit. A motion to approve the one-year engagement as 
presented in the board packet was made by Davidson and seconded by Caulfield. All 
voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 
IV. New Business: 



a) Nomination of Officers - 2026 nominations were discussed as recommended by the 

nominating committee and presented in the Board packet, no changes were made 

to those presented. A motion was made by Creath and seconded by Davidson to 

approve the director and officer nominations. All voted in favor and the motion 

passed.  

b) Fee Policy – Johnson reviewed the revised Fee Schedule as presented in the board 
packet. A paragraph was added to require renewable energy projects to pay the 
organization at application submission one-eighth of one percent of the total project 
costs to cover direct expenses incurred by the IDA. A motion to approve the revised 
Fee Schedule was made by Caulfield and seconded by Davidson. All voted in favor 
and the motion passed.  
 

V.        Old Business: 
a) Rail Riders Site Access Agreement - Johnson reviewed the revised Site Access 

Agreement with Finger Lakes Rail Riders. A new section was added to the agreement to 
allow the company to store equipment and other items on agency-approved areas of 
the track. This is necessary to support the company as they transition operations from 
Pen Yan to Bath and need to store existing equipment during the transition.  A motion 
to approve the Site Access Agreement revision as presented in the board packet was 
made by Davidson and seconded by Caulfield. All voted in favor and the motion passed.  
 

b) Prattsburgh Wind Update – Johnson advised the Board that the Prattsburgh Wind 
project is on hold until at least 2027 due to an increase in equipment and material costs 
and increased labor costs. 
 

VI. Project Updates/Other Updates –  
a) CRISI Grant – Johnson noted that the diesel-hybrid locomotive project with Alstom 

and NS is being re-evaluated by the Alstom and NS team.   The FRA asked the team 
to revise the project scope by removing the battery component and focus on an all-
diesel solution. Early estimates indicate the budget would double and Alstom would 
need 18 months to re-engineer the design. The project team asked for a 60-day 
extension to consider the request, which was supported by Congressman 
Langworthy.   

b) Wayland Site – Johnson discussed increased energy requirements for most projects 
and current limitations at the Wayland Industrial Park.  The IDA has worked with 
NYSEG on a solution which would increase the substantially increase the capacity at 
the site.  Staff has met with the State regarding their new Power Up grant program 
and intends to submit an application that would help increase the power at the 
Wayland site from 2 MW to 21 MW. 

c) Louisiana Pacific (LP) Project – Johnson met with LP staff this week and advised that 
the Bath facility is performing well and is one of the best performing facility which 
has resulted in new opportunities which the staff at the facility will be exploring in 
2026.   



d) Pleasant Valley Winery – Johnson advised that staff has been working with the 
family and the State to identify prospects which may be interested in purchasing the 
winery which is for sale because the owner’s health is failing.  

e) Hornell St. James Hospital – Johnson discussed that the abandoned former hospital 
is up for auction again starting at $100,000 and does not have any bids at this time.   
Staff have been working with the City on a redevelopment strategy should the 
facility not sell. 

f) Manufacturing Exchange – Staff are working on a new educational and networking 
series for manufacturing companies in the greater Steuben-Chemung area. The first 
session will take place on January 9 and provide an economic overview from the 
federal, state, and local levels. 
 

VII. Adjournment: Davidson made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 1:02 pm, which was 
seconded by Creath. All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
Mike Davidson 
Secretary 



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                

                                                                                
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Audit Plan Presentation 

Kristie M. Beach, CPAs, PLLC 

585.721.5663  |  kmbeachcpa.com 

January 22, 2026 



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Scope of Services & Engagement Team …………………………………………………………………………………………………………1 

Management’s Responsibilities ………………………………………………………………………………..…………………………………..2 

Engagement Objectives …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………3 

Audit Approach – Planned Scope …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………4 ‐ 5 

Overall Audit Timeline …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..6 

Updated or New Accounting and Reporting Standards…………………………………………………………………………………..7 



1 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Kristie M. Beach, CPA, PLLC will perform the services below for the year ended December 31, 2025: 

Audit Services 

 Perform the annual audits of the financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing 

Standards and Government Auditing Standards for:  

o Steuben County Industrial Development Agency 

o Steuben County Economic Development Corporation 

Management Letter (AU‐C 265 Letter) 

Preparation of management letter containing comments and recommendations with respect to accounting 

and administrative controls and efficiencies along with internal controls.   

Meetings  

Meet with the Board of Directors and Finance/Audit Committee to present reports, as requested. 

ENGAGEMENT TEAM MEMBERS  

Kristie Beach, CPA       
Partner           
kmbeach@kmbeachcpa.com            
585.721.5663     
 

 

 

Ethan Yotter 
Senior Accountant 
eryotter@kmbeachcpa.com 
716.868.9440 
 



2 
 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

Management  is  responsible  for  preparing, with  the  oversight  of  the  Board  of Directors  and  Finance/Audit 
Committee,  the  financial  statements  and  disclosures  in  conformity  with  accounting  principles  generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).  Management’s responsibilities also include the following:  

 Establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and proper accounting records. 

 Identify and ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. 

 Safeguard the Organization’s assets. 

 Select appropriate accounting principles. 

 Use reasonable judgments and accounting estimates. 

 Make all financial records and related information available to Kristie M. Beach, CPAs. 

 If applicable, record material audit adjustments and affirm to Kristie M. Beach, CPAs that the impact of 
any uncorrected misstatements is immaterial to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 Provide Kristie M. Beach, CPAs with a letter confirming representations made during the audit. 

 
Relating to third party transactions and other non‐attest services, management needs to assume responsibility 
for: 

 Overseeing  the  financial  statements,  by  designating  an  individual,  preferably  within  senior 
management, who possesses suitable skill, knowledge, and/or experience. The member should assess 
and be satisfied that such individual understands the services to be performed sufficiently to oversee 
them. However, the  individual  is not required to possess the expertise to perform or reperform the 
services.  

 Evaluating the adequacy and results of the services performed.  

 Accepting responsibility for the results of the services and providing an acknowledgement in writing in 
regard to their responsibilities.  Acknowledgement to include the following:  

- Objectives of the engagement  

- Services to be performed  

- Client's acceptance of its responsibilities  

- Firm’s responsibilities  

- Any limitations of the engagement



3 
 

 

ENGAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 

Our objectives with respect to the audit of the Organizations’ financial statements are summarized below: 

 Plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatements, whether caused by error or fraud. An audit does not provide absolute 
assurance relative to or any guarantee of the accuracy of the financial statements and is subject to the 
inherent risk that errors or fraud, if they exist, may not be detected. 

 Obtain a sufficient understanding of the Organizations’ internal control to plan the audit of the financial 
statements.  However,  such  understanding  is  required  for  the  purpose  of  determining  our  audit 
procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control.  

 Discuss  any  significant  issues  discussed with management  in  connection with  our  appointment  or 
retention. 

 Communicate our responsibilities in relation to the audit and establish an understanding of the terms of 
the engagement, including providing you with engagement letters. 

 Provide an overview of the overall audit strategy, timing of the audit and significant risks identified. 

 Inquire of the Board of Directors and Finance/Audit Committee about risks of material misstatement, 
including fraud risks, and whether they are aware of other matters that may be relevant to the audit 
such  as  violations  or  possible  violations  of  laws  or  regulations  and  complaints  or  concerns  raised 
regarding accounting or auditing matters. 

 Communicate with management and the Board of Directors and Finance/Audit Committee regarding 
significant  deficiencies  and  material  weaknesses  identified  during  our  audit  and  other  timely 
observations that are significant and relevant to the financial reporting process. 

 Work with management toward timely issuance of financial statements.  

 Maintain our independence with respect to the Organizations. 



4 
 

AUDIT APPROACH – PLANNED SCOPE 

Overall, our audit strategy is to focus on higher risk areas of material misstatement (whether due to error or 
fraud) and other areas of concern for management and the Board of Directors and Finance/Audit Committee.  
 
Our audit strategy includes consideration of: 

 Prior year audit results along with interim results, including discussions with management regarding the 
Organizations operations, business activities, and risks. 

 Inherent risk within the Organizations (i.e., the susceptibility of the financial statements to material error 
or fraud) before recognizing the effectiveness of the control systems. 

 A  continual  assessment  of  materiality  thresholds  based  upon  qualitative  and  quantitative  factors 
affecting the Organizations. 

 Changes in staffing levels, particularly those involved in the financial activities of the Organizations.   

 Recent developments within the industry, regulatory environment, and general economic conditions.   

 Recently issued and effective accounting and financial reporting guidance. 

 The Organizations significant and critical accounting policies and procedures, including those requiring 
significant management judgments and estimates and those related to significant unusual transactions, 
including identification of related parties. 

 The  control  environment,  risk management  and monitoring  processes,  and  the  possibility  that  the 
control systems and procedures may fail to prevent or detect a material error or fraud. We will place 
reliance on internal controls, where applicable, in determining the degree of detailed substantive testing 
required. 

 Information  about  systems  and  the  computer  environment  in which  financial  records  and  related 
systems operate. 

 
Auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America require us to identify significant risks in 
the planning stage of our audit.  Based upon our initial assessment the preliminary primary areas of focus in our 
overall audit strategy include:    
 

 Management override of controls (always considered) 

 Improper revenue recognition due to fraud (always considered) 

 Internal Control over Financial Reporting (always considered) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



5 
 

AUDIT APPROACH – PLANNED SCOPE 

Based  upon  our  initial  assessment,  our  audit will  entail  a  combination  of  testing  controls  for  reliance  and 

substantive testing.   The preliminary primary areas of focus in our overall audit strategy include:    

 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 Investments – Certificates of Deposit 

 Accounts Receivables and Allowance (if any) 

 Revenue Recognition 

- Grants income 
- Business development support 
- Other revenues 

 Capital Assets 

- Property and equipment 

 Other Assets and Liabilities 

- Accounts payable 
- Net pension liability 

 Net Position/Net Assets 

 Supplemental Schedule of Straight Lease Projects (Agency) 

 Compliance with Public Authorities Law 

We will communicate to management, the Board of Directors and Finance/Audit Committee, in a timely manner, 

any significant changes to the planned audit strategy or the significant risks initially identified that may occur 

during the audit to the results of audit procedures or in response to external factors. 

 



6 
 

OVERALL AUDIT TIMELINE 

The following represents our anticipated schedule with regard to our audit of the annual financial statements 

of the Organizations: 

  Jan  Feb  Mar 

Planning meeting with management and Finance/Audit Committee (1/22/2026)       

Develop Audit Strategy, and Determine Nature and Scope of Testing       

Risk Assessment, Internal Control Discussions & Interim Fieldwork        

Fieldwork        

Agency Project Information Testing       

Financial Statement Preparation & Wrap        

Meeting with management, Finance/Audit Committee and Board – Post Audit       

Release Final Financial Statements & Internal Control Letter (3/31/2026)       

Periodic Meetings and Discussions With Management       



7 
 

NEW ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING STANDARDS 

GASB Statement No. 102 
Certain Risk Disclosures  

The  objective  of  this  Statement  is  to  provide  users  of  government 
financial statements with essential  information about risks related to a 
government’s  vulnerabilities  due  to  certain  concentrations  or 
constraints.     

*** Effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2024.*** 

GASB Statement No. 103 
Financial Reporting Model   
Improvements 

The objective of  this  Statement  is  to  improve  key  components of  the 
financial  reporting  model  to  enhance  its  effectiveness  in  providing 
information  that  is  essential  for  decision  making  and  assessing  a 
government’s accountability.  

*** Effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2025.*** 

GASB Statement No. 104 
Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets 

The  objective  of  this  Statement  is  to  provide  users  of  government 
financial  statements with  essential  information  about  certain  types of 
capital assets.  

*** Effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2025.*** 

GASB Statement No. 105 
Subsequent Events 

The  objective  of  this  Statement  is  improve  the  financial  reporting 
requirements for subsequent events, thereby enhancing consistency  in 
their application and better meeting the  information needs of financial 
statement users.  

*** Effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2026.*** 











Project Summary Sheet 
Chauncey Run, LLC 
January 2026 
 
 
Project Description 
Chauncey Run, LLC is a 5 MW community solar project proposed by BlueWave, a developer with over 200 MW of 
community solar projects in its portfolio. This project will be located on approximately 27 acres of land in Hornellsville. 
The single axis, tracking panels will be co-located with agricultural activities such as pollinator habitation or grazing. 
 
The company is applying for sales, mortgage, and property tax assistance. 
 
 
Total Project Investment   $20,775,366 
Benefitted Project Amount  $17,759,366 
 
Jobs Retained     0 
Job Created  0  

Short-term job potential: construction jobs  
Long-term job potential: various professions will be hired on a part-time, 
contract basis as needed during the life of the project, such as electrical workers  

 
Benefit to Cost Ratio 2:1 (assumes a full assessment value based on the state’s appraisal model) 
Estimated PILOT Savings  $1,254,376 
Estimated Mortgage Tax Savings $207,754 
Estimated Sales Tax Savings  $438,649 
Total Savings    $1,900,779 
Comments The project will generate $668,178 more in property tax revenue than is 

currently paid over 20 years for the taxing jurisdictions based on the PILOT 
schedule. 

 The application notes that equipment with long lead times has already been 
ordered to allow construction to begin in 2026, which is typical for renewable 
energy projects. If IDA assistance is not approved, the equipment will be 
redirected to another project or the order cancelled. 

 
Estimated Project Start Date  Spring 2026 
Estimated Project Completion Date Q2 2027 
 
 
Evaluative Criteria for Energy Projects 
 
1. Private Sector Investment – The project will result in $20.8 million private sector investment, create construction 

jobs, and induce local spending for lodging, restaurants and gas stations during the construction period. 
2. Advances State Renewable Energy Production Goals – This project will assist in meeting the state’s climate action 

goals to generate 70% of electricity from renewable sources by 2030 and by reducing greenhouse gases 85% by 
2050. 



































Chauncey Run Solar Farm
Steuben County IDA PILOT Assessment - draft
7200 Tobes Hill Road, Hornellsville

Distribution Rate 
Hornellsville Tax Rate/$1,000 $3.57 15.56%
County Tax Rate/$1,000 $5.41 23.58%
School District Tax Rate/$1,000 $13.96 60.85%
Total Tax Rate/$1000 $22.94

Per MW PILOT Rate $5,500.00 plus 2% annually 
Rated Megawatts 5
Total PILOT payment over 20 years $698,218

Abatement Year
Taxes on 27 
acres of land

Total PILOT 
Payment

Town Payment w/ 
PILOT and 27 acres

County Payment 
w/ PILOT and 27 

acres

School Payment w/ 
PILOT and 27 acres

Total Taxes w/ PILOT 
and 27 acres

Year 1 $1,236 $27,500 $4,472 $6,777 $17,487 $28,736
Year 2 $1,261 $28,050 $4,561 $6,913 $17,837 $29,311
Year 3 $1,286 $28,611 $4,653 $7,051 $18,194 $29,897
Year 4 $1,312 $29,183 $4,746 $7,192 $18,558 $30,495
Year 5 $1,338 $29,767 $4,841 $7,336 $18,929 $31,105
Year 6 $1,365 $30,362 $4,938 $7,482 $19,307 $31,727
Year 7 $1,392 $30,969 $5,036 $7,632 $19,694 $32,362
Year 8 $1,420 $31,589 $5,137 $7,785 $20,087 $33,009
Year 9 $1,449 $32,221 $5,240 $7,940 $20,489 $33,669
Year 10 $1,478 $32,865 $5,345 $8,099 $20,899 $34,343
Year 11 $1,507 $33,522 $5,451 $8,261 $21,317 $35,029
Year 12 $1,537 $34,193 $5,560 $8,426 $21,743 $35,730
Year 13 $1,568 $34,877 $5,672 $8,595 $22,178 $36,445
Year 14 $1,599 $35,574 $5,785 $8,767 $22,622 $37,174
Year 15 $1,631 $36,286 $5,901 $8,942 $23,074 $37,917
Year 16 $1,664 $37,011 $6,019 $9,121 $23,536 $38,675
Year 17 $1,697 $37,752 $6,139 $9,303 $24,006 $39,449
Year 18 $1,731 $38,507 $6,262 $9,489 $24,487 $40,238
Year 19 $1,766 $39,277 $6,387 $9,679 $24,976 $41,043
Year 20 $1,801 $40,062 $6,515 $9,873 $25,476 $41,863

$30,040 $668,178 $108,659 $164,663 $424,896 $698,218



Steuben County Industrial Development Agency

MRB Cost Benefit Calculator Cost-Benefit Analysis Tool powered by MRB Group

Date

Project Title

Project Location

Summary of Economic Impacts over the Life of the PILOT

Project Total Investment

$20,775,366 Temporary (Construction)

Direct Indirect Total

Jobs 32 8 40

Earnings $1,907,741 $421,116 $2,328,857

Local Spend $4,570,581 $1,335,274 $5,905,854

Ongoing (Operations)

Aggregate over life of the PILOT

Direct Indirect Total

Jobs 0 0 0

Earnings $0 $0 $0

             Figure 1

          Net Benefits chart will always display construction through year 10, irrespective of the length of the PILOT.

Figure 2

© Copyright 2021 MRB Engineering, Architecture and Surveying, D.P.C. Ongoing earnings are all earnings over the life of the PILOT.

January 1, 2025

Chauncey Run 

Hornellsville, NY

Figure 3

Economic Impacts

0 10 20 30 40 50

Ongoing

Temporary

Total Jobs

Direct Indirect

$0 $500,000 $1,000,000 $1,500,000 $2,000,000 $2,500,000

Ongoing

Temporary

Total Earnings

Direct Indirect

-$1,000,000

-$500,000

$0

$500,000

$1,000,000

$1,500,000

$2,000,000

$2,500,000

$3,000,000

Net Benefits

Benefits Costs Net Benefits



Cost-Benefit Analysis Tool powered by MRB Group

Estimated Costs of Exemptions

Nominal Value Discounted Value*

Property Tax Exemption $1,254,376 $965,710

Sales Tax Exemption $438,649 $438,649

Local Sales Tax Exemption $219,325 $219,325

State Sales Tax Exemption $219,325 $219,325

Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption $207,754 $207,754

Local Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption $69,251 $69,251

State Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption $138,502 $138,502

Total Costs $1,900,779 $1,612,113

State and Local Benefits

Nominal Value Discounted Value*

Local Benefits

To Private Individuals

Temporary Payroll

Ongoing Payroll

Other Payments to Private Individuals

To the Public

Increase in Property Tax Revenue

Temporary Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue

Ongoing Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue

Other Local Municipal Revenue

State Benefits

To the Public

Temporary Income Tax Revenue

Ongoing Income Tax Revenue

Temporary Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue

Ongoing Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue

Total Benefits to State & Region

Benefit to Cost Ratio 

Ratio

Local 2:1

State :1

Grand Total 2:1

*Discounted at 2% 

             Does the IDA believe that the project can be accomplished in a timely fashion? Yes

© Copyright 2021 MRB Engineering, Architecture and Surveying, D.P.C.

$0 $0

$0 $0

$684,480 $555,518

$668,178 $539,216

$16,302 $16,302

$0 $0

This project will assist the state in acheiveing its clean energy goals.

Fiscal Impacts

Additional Comments from IDA

Benefit*

$3,013,336 $2,884,374

$2,328,857 $2,328,857

$2,328,857

$0

$2,328,857

$0

$104,799

$0

$16,302

$121,101 $121,101

$121,101 $121,101

$104,799

$3,005,475$3,134,437

$3,005,475 $1,612,113

$0

$16,302

$0

Cost*

$2,884,374

$121,101

$1,254,286

$357,827

$0



 

Error! Unknown document property name. 

INITIAL RESOLUTION 

(Chauncey Run, LLC Project) 

 

A regular meeting of the Steuben County Industrial Development Agency was convened 

on Thursday, January 22, 2026. 

 

The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit: 

 

Resolution No.  01/2026 - _____ 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE STEUBEN COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (THE "AGENCY") (i) ACCEPTING THE 

APPLICATION OF CHAUNCEY RUN, LLC WITH RESPECT TO A 

CERTAIN PROJECT (AS MORE FULLY DESCRIBED BELOW), (ii) 

AUTHORIZING THE SCHEDULING OF A PUBLIC HEARING WITH 

RESPECT TO THE PROJECT, (iii) DESCRIBING THE FORMS OF 

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE BEING CONTEMPLATED WITH RESPECT TO 

THE PROJECT, AND (iv) AUTHORIZING THE NEGOTIATION OF 

CERTAIN AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE PROJECT.  

 

WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of 

New York, as amended, and Chapter 178 of the Laws of 1972 of the State of New York, as 

amended (hereinafter collectively called the "Act"), the STEUBEN COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (hereinafter called "Agency") was created with the authority and 

power to own, lease and sell property for the purpose of, among other things, acquiring, 

constructing and equipping industrial, manufacturing and commercial facilities as authorized by 

the Act; and 

  

WHEREAS, CHAUNCEY RUN, LLC, for itself or on behalf of an entity formed or to 

be formed by it or on its behalf (collectively, the "Company"), has submitted an application (the 

"Application"), a copy of which is on file with the Agency, requesting the Agency's assistance 

with respect to a certain project (the "Project"), consisting of: (i) the acquisition by the Agency of 

a leasehold interest in approximately 27 acres of real property located at 7200 Tobes Hill Road in 

the Town of Hornellsville, New York and all other lands where by license or easement or other 

agreement the Company or its designees are making improvements that benefit the Project (the 

"Land", being more particularly identified as a portion of tax parcel number 151.00-02-005.211, 

as may be subdivided); (ii) the planning, design, construction and operation of a 5MWac PV 

solar electrical generation system, including panel foundations, inverters, transformers, 

interconnect wiring, utility connections, sitework, landscaping, fencing, security and related 

improvements (collectively, the "Improvements"); and (iii) the acquisition of and installation in 

and around the Land and Improvements by the Company of machinery, equipment, fixtures and 

other items of tangible personal property (the "Equipment"; and, together with the Land and the 

Improvements, the "Facility"); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law the Agency desires 

to adopt a resolution describing the Project and the Financial Assistance (as defined below) that 

the Agency is contemplating with respect to the Project; and 

 



 

Page 2 
 

WHEREAS, it is contemplated that the Agency will hold a public hearing and (i) 

negotiate and enter into a project agreement, pursuant to which the Agency will appoint the 

Company as its agent for the purpose of undertaking the Project (the "Project Agreement"), (ii) 

negotiate and enter into a lease agreement (the "Lease Agreement"), a leaseback agreement (the 

"Leaseback Agreement"), and a payment-in-lieu-of-tax agreement (the "Tax Agreement"), (iii) 

take a leasehold interest (or other interest) in the Land and the Improvements and personal 

property constituting the Facility (once the Lease Agreement, the Leaseback Agreement and the 

Tax Agreement have been negotiated), and (iv) provide Financial Assistance to the Company in 

the form of (a) a sales and use tax exemption for purchases and rentals related to the acquisition, 

construction, and equipping of the Facility, (b) a partial real property tax abatement structured 

within the Tax Agreement, and (c) a mortgage recording tax exemption (collectively, the 

"Financial Assistance"). 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE STEUBEN 

COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The Company has presented an Application in a form acceptable to the 

Agency.  Based upon the representations made by the Company to the Agency in the Company’s 

Application, the Agency hereby finds and determines that: 

 

 (A) By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary and 

convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise all 

powers granted to it under the Act; and 

 

 (B) The Agency has the authority to take the actions contemplated herein under the 

Act; and 

 

 (C) The action to be taken by the Agency will induce the Company to develop the 

Project, thereby increasing employment opportunities in Steuben County, New York, and 

otherwise furthering the purposes of the Agency as set forth in the Act; and 

 

 (D) The Project will not result in the removal of a civic, commercial, industrial, or 

manufacturing plant of the Company or any other proposed occupant of the Project from one 

area of the State of New York (the "State") to another area of the State or result in the 

abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of the Company or any other proposed occupant 

of the Project located within the State; and the Agency hereby finds that, based on the 

Company’s application, to the extent occupants are relocating from one plant or facility to 

another, the Project is reasonably necessary to discourage the Project occupants from removing 

such other plant or facility to a location outside the State and/or is reasonably necessary to 

preserve the competitive position of the Project occupants in their respective industries; and 

 

Section 2. The Chairman, Vice Chairman and/or Executive Director of the Agency 

are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to (A) hold a public hearing in compliance with 

the Act, and (B) negotiate (1) the Project Agreement, pursuant to which the Agency appoints the 

Company as its agent to undertake the Project, (2) the Lease Agreement, pursuant to which the 

Company leases the Project to the Agency, (3) the related Leaseback Agreement, pursuant to 

which the Agency leases its interest in the Project back to the Company, (4) the Tax Agreement, 

pursuant to which the Company agrees to make certain payments in lieu of real property taxes 



 

Page 3 
 

for the benefit of affected tax jurisdictions, and (5) related documents; provided (i) the rental 

payments under the Leaseback Agreement include payments of all costs incurred by the Agency 

arising out of or related to the Project and indemnification of the Agency by the Company for 

actions taken by the Company and/or claims arising out of or related to the Project; and (ii) the 

terms of the Tax Agreement are consistent with the Agency's Uniform Tax Exemption Policy or 

the procedures for deviation therefrom have been complied with. 

 

Section 3. The Agency is hereby authorized to conduct a public hearing in 

compliance with the Act. 

 

Section 4. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized 

and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required 

and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay all such fees, 

charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may be necessary or, in the 

opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of 

the foregoing resolutions and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants 

and provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 

Section 5. In the event that (a) the Company does not proceed to final Agency 

approval within six (6) months of the date hereof and/or (b) close with the Agency on the 

proposed Financial Assistance within twelve (12) months of the date hereof, the Agency reserves 

the right to rescind and cancel this resolution and all approvals made hereunder or under any 

other Agency resolution or action. 

 

Section 6. These Resolutions shall take effect immediately. 

 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to vote on roll call, 

which resulted as follows: 

 

Yea  Nay  Abstain Absent 

 

Dean Strobel  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Sarah Creath   [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Mike Davidson [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Michelle Caulfield [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Kelly Fitzpatrick [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Anthony Russo [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Mark R. Alger  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

 

 

The Resolutions were thereupon duly adopted. 



 

Page 4 
 

SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATION 

(Chauncey Run, LLC Project) 

 

 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 

COUNTY OF STEUBEN  ) ss.: 

 

I, the undersigned, Secretary of the Steuben County Industrial Development Agency, DO 

HEREBY CERTIFY: 

 

That I have compared the annexed extract of minutes of the meeting of the Steuben 

County Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), including the resolution contained 

therein, held on January 22, 2026, with the original thereof on file in the office of the Agency, 

and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such 

resolution set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to the 

subject matters therein referred to. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting, 

that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public 

Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the general public, and that public 

notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Article 7. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present 

throughout said meeting. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force 

and effect and has not been amended, repealed or modified. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said 

Agency this ___ day of _______________, 2026. 

 

 

 

              

        Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

  


